IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC07-1556

THE CROSSINGS AT FLEMING ISLAND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT,

petitioner,

vs.

LISA REINHARDT ECHEVERRI, et al.,

respondents.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON MERITS

LESTER & MITCHELL, P.A.

Don H. Lester, Esq. Florida Bar No. 370134 1035 LaSalle Street Jacksonville, FL 32207 (904) 396-9640 (904) 396-7117 (facsimile)

KOPELOUSOS & BRADLEY, P.A.

Robert M. Bradley, Jr., Florida Bar No. 0096946 1279 Kingsley Avenue Suite 118 Orange Park, FL 32073 (904) 269-1111 (904) 269-1116 (facsimile)

Attorneys for Petitioner

##

Issue:

I.	WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD APPROVE THE
	HOLDING OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF
	APPEAL IN <u>SUN 'N LAKE OF SEBRING</u>
	IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT V. MCINTYRE, 800
	So. 2nd 715 (FLA. 2ND DCA 2001),
	DISAPPROVE THE HOLDING OF THE FIRST
	DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THE INSTANT
	ACTION, AND HOLD THAT THE PROPERTY
	APPRAISER DOES NOT HAVE STANDING TO
	DEFENSIVELY CHALLENGE THE
	CONSTITUTIONALITY OF SECTION 189.403(1)
	FLORIDA STATUTES

Conclusion .	, <b></b>	
Certificate	of	Service
Certificate	of	Compliance

# TABLE OF CITATIONS

## Cases

## PAGE

<u>Allstate Ins. Co. v. Regar</u> , 942 So.2d 969 (Fla. 2 <sup>nd</sup> DCA 2006)7
American Honda Motor Co. v. Cerasani, 955 So.2d 543 (Fla. 2007)7
<u>Barr v. Watts</u> , 70 So.2d 347 (Fla. 1953)13,15,19,23
<u>City of Pensacola v. King</u> , 47 So.2d 317 (Fla. 1950)13, 14,22,23
Board of Public Instruction for Santa Rosa
<u>County v.Croom</u> , 48 So. 641 (Fla. 1908)14
Department of Education v. Lewis, 416 So.2d 455 (Fla. 1982)
<u>Fuchs v. Robbins</u> , 818 So.2d 460 (Fla. 2002) 3,4,18,19,20,21,23
<u>Green v. City of Pensacola</u> , 108 So.2d 897 (Fla. 1st DCA 1959)24
<u>Kaulakis v. Boyd</u> , 138 So.2d 505 (Fla. 1962)24
<u>Mid-Chattahoochee River Users v. Florida</u> <u>Dept. of Environmental Protection</u> , 948 So.2d 794 (Fla. 1 <sup>st</sup> DCA 2006)7
<u>Shaw v. Tampa Electric Company</u> , 949 So.2d 1066 (Fla. 2 <sup>nd</sup> DCA 2007)7
<u>State ex rel. Atlantic Coast Line R. Co.</u> <u>v. State Board of Equalizers</u> , 94 So. 681 (Fla. 1922)10,12,13,14,15,17,19,20,22,23,25
State ex rel. Florida Portland Cement Co. v. Hale, 176 So. 577 (Fla. 1937)22,23
<u>State ex rel. Gillespie v. Thursby</u> , 139 So. 372 (Fla. 1932)12

<u>State ex rel. Harrell v. Cone</u> , 177 So. 854 (Fla. 1938) 13,14,22,23,24
<u>State ex rel. Landis v. S.H. Kress</u> , 155 So. 823 (Fla. 1934)15
<u>State ex rel. Ship Canal Authority v. Lancaster</u> , 170 So. 126 (Fla. 1936)12,23,24,25
<u>Steele v. Freel</u> , 25 So.2d 501 (Fla. 1946)12,14,25
<u>Sun 'N Lake of Sebring Improvement District</u> <u>v. McIntyre</u> , 800 So.2d 715 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2001) 3,4,7,8,15,16,17,18,25,26
<u>Sunset Harbour Condominium Assn. v. Robbins</u> , 914 So.2d 925 (Fla. 2005)4,19,20,21
Turner v. Hillsborough County Aviation Authority, 739 So.2d 175 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1999) 16,17,18,19,20,24
<u>Waste Management, Inc. v. Mora</u> , 940 So.2d 1105 (Fla. 2006)7
<pre>Zingale v. Crossings at Fleming Island Community Development District, 960 So.2d 20 (Fla. 1st DCA 2007)</pre>

# Florida Statutes

§ 189.403(1) Florida Statutes1,2,3,7,8,16,17,20,23,24,25,26
Chapter 190 Florida Statutes1
§ 192.001(3) Florida Statutes24
§194.036(1)(a) Florida Statutes (1997)
§ 196.199(1) Florida Statutes1,2,9
§ 196.199(1)(c) Florida Statutes8,15

# Florida Constitution

Article VIII(d) of the Florida	Constitution24
--------------------------------	----------------

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

All references to the record are referred to herein by the letter "R" followed by the page number.

The Crossings At Fleming Island Community Development District, petitioner herein and plaintiff at the trial level, will be referred to as the "District." Wayne Weeks, Clay County Property Appraiser, respondent herein and defendant at the trial level, will be referred to as "Weeks." Florida Department of Revenue, respondent herein and defendant at the trial level, will be referred to as "DOR."

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The District is a community development district located in Clay County, Florida, created in November 1989 pursuant to Chapter 190 Florida Statutes. Beginning with the tax year 2000, the District applied for exemption of certain parcels within the District pursuant to Section 196.199(1) Florida Statutes. (R-I-1-29). After Weeks denied the District's request for property tax exemption for those parcels, the District filed suit against Weeks and other defendants to obtain a judicial determination that the District was entitled to property tax exemption on those certain parcels within the District. (R-I-1-29).

The District made similar applications for the tax years 2001 and 2002, and after Weeks denied those applications, the District filed complaints again seeking a judicial determination that the District was entitled to property tax exemption on those parcels. (R-I-110-140; R-III-435-459). Upon motion to consolidate, the foregoing three actions were consolidated for purposes of trial. (R-IV-491-493; 502-503).

Weeks defended at the trial level by asserting, among other defenses, the defense that Section 189.403(1) Florida Statutes was unconstitutional. (R-I-30-42; 154-167; IV-481-490). Section 189.403(1) provides that special districts

- 1 -

shall be treated as municipalities for the purpose of Section 196.199(1) Florida Statutes. The District contended that Weeks did not have standing to raise unconstitutionality of the statute as a defense, and moved to strike the affirmative defense in the 2002 case (R-IV-498-501). The District later moved to strike the defense in the 2000 and 2001 cases. (R-IV-588-590; 591-593).

During the course of the litigation, the District served on Weeks its Third Request for Admissions. Pursuant to the request, Weeks admitted that the only way properties owned by the District can be exempt from property taxes is if they are used for municipal, governmental, or public purposes, but flatly denied that he would exempt from property taxes those properties owned by the District that are used for municipal, governmental or public purposes. (R-196-197; 200-201)

By order dated September 30, 2003, the trial court granted the District's motion to strike Weeks's affirmative defense of the unconstitutionality of Section 189.403(1), ruling that Weeks did not have standing raise this challenge. (R-IV-586-587; 594-595; 596-597).

After a non-jury trial, the trial court entered judgment finding that property tax exemption should be applied to certain parcels within the District, which

- 2 -

judgment was appealed by Weeks and DOR to the First District Court of Appeal. (R-VIII-1298-1302; 1303-1307; 1309-1312; IX-1473-1486; 1489-1496). The First District dismissed the appeal as being non-final and remanded to the trial court. (R-XI-1665). On remand, the trial court entered an amended final judgment. (R-XI-1780-1789). Weeks and DOR appealed the amended final judgment to the First District Court of Appeal. (R-XI-1790-1802; 1805-1823).

The First District Court of Appeal issued its opinion on May 8, 2007. <u>Zingale v. Crossings at Fleming Island</u> <u>Community Development District</u>, 960 So.2d 20 (Fla. 1st DCA 2007). In its decision, the First District affirmed the trial court's rulings with respect to the tax exempt status of the parcels in question, but reversed the trial court on the issue of Weeks's standing to challenge the constitutionality of Section 189.403(1) Florida Statutes.

In its discussion of the issue of Weeks's standing, the First District considered the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal in <u>Sun 'N Lake of Sebring</u> <u>Improvement District v. McIntyre</u>, 800 So.2d 715 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2001), but declined to follow that Court's rationale. Relying instead on what the Court characterized as explicit language in this Court's decision in Fuchs v. Robbins, 818

- 3 -

So.2d 460 (Fla. 2002), the First District held that Weeks was entitled to bring a constitutional challenge to the statute, since he was in the procedural posture of a defendant. Zingale, at 27, 28.

Judge Kahn agreed with the majority's opinion affirming the trial court's ruling on the tax exempt status of certain parcels within the District, but dissented on issue of Weeks' standing to challenge the the constitutionality of the statute. Judge Kahn agreed with the holding in Sun 'N Lake, found that decision to be consistent with existing law, and observed that Justice Bell's concurring opinion in Sunset Harbour Condominium Assn. v. Robbins, 914 So.2d 925 (Fla. 2005) amply established that the so-called defensive posture exception to standing is aberrational and not a controlling principle of Florida law. Zingale, at 29.

The District timely filed a motion to certify conflict with the Second District Court of Appeal by virtue of its decision in <u>Sun 'N Lake</u>. On June 26, 2007, the First District granted the District's motion, and certified conflict with <u>Sun 'N Lake</u> on the issue of whether the property appraiser has standing to defensively raise the constitutionality of a statute.

- 4 -

The District timely filed its notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

It is a general principle of Florida common law that ministerial officers charged with faithfully executing the laws of the State may not challenge the constitutionality of statutes. Court decisions over the years have set forth three exceptions to this prohibition: first, when the officer can show that he or she will be injured in person, property or rights by enforcement; second, when the statute in question involves disbursement of public funds; and third, when the officer is raising the constitutional challenge in a defensive posture. The prohibition on ministerial officers' right to assert constitutional challenges is founded on sound public policy and is consistent with the separation of powers doctrine concerning the functions of the judicial and executive branches.

In the instant proceeding, the District was forced to initiate litigation against Weeks only after Weeks unilaterally decided not to follow the law. By his violation of the law and his oath of office, Weeks succeeded in manipulating himself into a "defensive" posture by forcing the District to file suit, since the District's only other alternative was to accept Weeks's decision and lose the benefit of the tax exemption statute.

– б –

Such a tactic is not "defensive," and courts should not countenance such conduct.

The procedural posture of, and the relevant facts in, the instant proceeding and that presented in <u>Sun 'N Lake of</u> <u>Sebring v. McIntyre</u>, 800 So.2d 715 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2001) are identical. The holding and reasoning in <u>Sun 'N Lake</u> are consistent with general principles of Florida law and the decisions of this Court and should be approved. The trial court's ruling striking Weeks's affirmative defenses challenging the constitutionality of Section 189.403(1) Florida Statutes should be affirmed.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issue of the property appraiser's standing to defensively assert a constitutional challenge to a statute he is required to administer is a pure question of law. Accordingly, this Court's review is de novo. <u>Waste</u> <u>Management, Inc. v. Mora</u>, 940 So.2d 1105 (Fla. 2006); <u>Shaw</u> <u>v. Tampa Electric Company</u>, 949 So.2d 1066 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 2007); <u>Allstate Ins. Co. v. Regar</u>, 942 So.2d 969 (Fla. 2md DCA 2006); <u>American Honda Motor Co. v. Cerasani</u>, 955 So.2d 543 (Fla. 2007); <u>Mid-Chattahoochee River Users v. Florida</u> <u>Dept. of Environmental Protection</u>, 948 So.2d 794 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2006).

- 7 -

#### ARGUMENT

WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD APPROVE THE I. HOLDING OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF SUN 'N LAKE OF APPEAL IN SEBRING IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT V. MCINTYRE, 800 So. 2nd 715 (FLA. 2ND DCA 2001), DISAPPROVE THE HOLDING OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THE INSTANT PROPERTY ACTION, AND HOLD THAT THE APPRAISER DOES NOT HAVE STANDING TO DEFENSIVELY CHALLENGE THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF SECTION 189.403(1) FLORIDA STATUTES

Under Florida law, property owned by political subdivisions and municipalities is exempt from ad valorem taxation if the property is used for governmental, municipal, or public purposes. Section 196.199(1)(c) Florida Statutes provides as follows:

> All property of the several political subdivisions and municipalities of this <u>state</u> or of entities created by general or special law and composed entirely of governmental agencies, or property conveyed to a non-profit corporation which would revert to the governmental agency, which is used for governmental, municipal, or public purposes shall be <u>exempt from ad valorem taxation</u>, except as otherwise provided by law. (emphasis added)

Independent special districts such as the District are treated as municipalities for ad valorem tax purposes under Florida law. Section 189.403(1) Florida Statutes reads as follows:

"Special district" means a local unit special purpose, as opposed to of general-purpose, government within a limited boundary, created by general law, special act, local ordinance, or by rule of the Governor and Cabinet. The special purpose or purposes of special districts are implemented by specialized functions and related prescribed powers. For the purpose of s. 196.199(1), special districts shall be treated as municipalities. The term does not include a school district, a community college district, a special improvement district created pursuant s. 285.17, a municipal service to taxing or benefit unit as specified in s. 125.01, or a board which provides electrical service and which is а political subdivision of a municipality or is part of a municipality. (emphasis added)

Because independent special districts are treated as municipalities for ad valorem tax purposes, property owned by the district that is used for "governmental, municipal or public purposes" is exempt from ad valorem taxation.

In this litigation, Weeks was unequivocal and clear that he would not follow the dictates of the Florida Statutes which are set forth above. In Weeks's response to the District's third request for admissions, Weeks denied the following statement: "I will exempt from property taxes those properties owned by The Crossings at Fleming Island Community Development District that are used for a municipal, governmental or public purpose." (R-195-197; 200-201). This admission, which was also made in Weeks's response to the District's first request for admissions, is a flagrant admission from this state officer that he refuses to follow the law. (R-69-72; 93-94)

The law governing constitutional challenges after a refusal by ministerial officers to follow the law, and the public policy reasons therefor, were well enunciated by this Court in its decision in State ex rel. Atlantic Coast Line R. Co. v. State Board of Equalizers, 94 So. 681 (Fla. 1922). In Atlantic Coast Line, a petition for a writ of mandamus was issued against the State Board of Equalizers, challenging a valuation made by the Comptroller. The petition alleged that the State Board refused to entertain the appeal because it decided it had no jurisdiction to do In its response, the State Board admitted the so. allegation, the effect of which was to admit that it. refused to obey the statutes in question because it considered them unconstitutional.

This Court framed the question as follows: has a ministerial officer the right or power to declare an act unconstitutional, or to raise the question of its unconstitutionality without showing injury in person, property, or rights by its enforcement. This Court answered the question in the negative. The Court noted that every law upon the statute books is presumptively constitutional until declared otherwise by the courts. The Court explained this principle as follows:

> The contention that the oath of a public official requiring him to obey the Constitution places upon him the duty or obligation to determine whether an act is constitutional before he will obey it is, I think, without merit. The fallacy in it is that every act of the Legislature is presumptively constitutional until judicially declared otherwise, and the oath of office "to obey the Constitution" means to obey the Constitution, not as an officer decides, but as judicially determined.

The Court recognized that the proposition that ministerial officers can refuse to enforce a law because it would violate their oath to obey the Constitution is simply a reincarnation of the ancient and discredited doctrine of nullification. This Court observed that the authority to determine the constitutionality of statutory law lies solely with the courts, and to permit otherwise would abrogate or limit this power of the courts. This Court stated succinctly: "[t]he right to declare an act unconstitutional is purely a judicial power, and cannot be exercised by the officers of the executive department under

the guise of the observance of their oath of office to support the Constitution." Atlantic Coast Line, at 597.

This Court discussed the fundamental public policy furthered by its holding. The Court, quoting a Louisiana case, stated:

> [I]n a well-regulated government obedience to its laws is absolutely essential and of paramount importance. Were it not so, the most inextricable confusion would inevitably result, and produce such collisions in the administration of public affairs as to materially impede the proper and necessary operations of government.

Based on the foregoing reasoning, this Court held that the State Board response raising unconstitutionality of the statute was unwarranted, unauthorized, and afforded no defense to the allegations of the writ.

The principle that ministerial officers must obey statutes until their validity has been determined by the Courts was re-iterated by this Court many times. <u>State ex</u> <u>rel. Gillespie v. Thursby</u>, 139 So. 372 (Fla. 1932); <u>State</u> <u>ex rel. Ship Canal Authority v. Lancaster</u>, 170 So. 126 (Fla. 1936); <u>Steele v. Freel</u>, 25 So.2d 501 (Fla. 1946). It should be noted that in both <u>Ship Canal Authority</u> and <u>Steele</u>, the ministerial officer in question, in both instances the clerk of the circuit court, defensively raised a constitutional challenge to the statute in question. In both cases, this Court held that the clerk was not entitled to rely on alleged unconstitutionality as grounds for refusing to carry out ministerial duties imposed by the statutes.

In <u>Barr v. Watts</u>, 70 So.2d 347 (Fla. 1953), this Court had the opportunity to re-affirm the principles enunciated in <u>Atlantic Coast Line</u>. In <u>Barr</u>, the relator sought to compel the State Board of Law Examiners to permit her to take the examination for admission to the practice of law. The State Board had rejected her application for permission to take the bar examination. The State Board defended against Barr's petition by taking the position that the statute upon which Barr relied was unconstitutional, and it would violate their oath of office to administer the act. In support of their position, the State Board relied upon dictum in the cases of <u>City of Pensacola v. King</u>, 47 So.2d 317 (Fla. 1950) and <u>State ex rel. Harrell v. Cone</u>, 177 So. 854 (Fla. 1938).

This Court held that the State Board did not have standing to defensively challenge the constitutionality of the applicable statute. This Court reiterated the reasoning and public policy enunciated in <u>Atlantic Coast</u> <u>Line</u>, noting that the only exceptions to the prohibition against ministerial officer constitutional challenges is

- 13 -

when the officer will be injured in person, property, or rights by enforcement, or when administration of the act in question will require the expenditure of public funds, citing for the latter proposition the decision in <u>Steele v.</u> <u>Freel</u>, 25 So.2d 501 (Fla. 1946).<sup>1</sup>

This Court rejected the State Board's reliance upon dictum in <u>City of Pensacola</u> and <u>Harrell</u>. The Court observed that a careful reading of those cases revealed that each involved disbursement of public funds in the administration of the act in question, so the cases could have turned on that point alone, and the Court had never receded from the rule adopted in Atlantic Coast Line.

This Court described the chaos and confusion that would result if ministerial officers were permitted to declare acts unconstitutional under the guise of observing their oath of office. As aptly stated by this Court:

> The people of this state have the right to expect that each and every such state agency will promptly carry out and put into effect the will of the people as expressed in the legislative acts of their duly elected

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This Court also suggested the latter exception in <u>Atlantic Coast Line</u> when it distinguished the decision in <u>Board of Public Instruction for Santa Rosa County v.Croom</u>, 48 So. 641 (Fla. 1908), in which the State Treasurer was faced with paying money out of the treasury under the provisions of an unconstitutional act. <u>Atlantic Coast Line</u>, at 601.

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