SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: **SC07-1556**

ORIGINAL

THE CROSSINGS AT FLEMING ISLAND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT.

Petitioner,

Lower Tribunal Case Nos: 1D06-2026 1D06-2158

VS.

LISA ECHEVERRI, as Executive Director of the Florida Department of Revenue; **WAYNE WEEKS**, as Clay County Property Appraiser; et al,

K	kesponaents.	•
		/

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT WAYNE WEEKS CLAY COUNTY PROPERTY APPRAISER

Larry E. Levy Fla. Bar No. 047019 Loren E. Levy Fla. Bar No. 0814441 The Levy Law Firm 1828 Riggins Lane Tallahassee, Florida 32308 Telephone: 850/219-0220

Counsel for Wayne Weeks, Clay County Property Appraiser

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

By virtue of this Court accepting jurisdiction, all issues decided by the First District Court of Appeal in Zingale v. The Crossings at Fleming Island

Community Dev. Dist., 960 So.2d 20 (Fla. 1st DCA 2007), are before the Court.

See Cantor v. Davis, 489 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1986); Trushin v. State, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1982).

The property appraiser submits that the district court's decision finding that the golf course, swim and tennis centers, and playgrounds are exempt as being used for an exempt purpose is incorrect based on the undisputed facts as a matter of law. The district court stated the basis for its holding as follows:

Because the property, for exemption purposes, should be treated the same as parks and recreation opportunities traditionally provided by municipalities, which are explicitly recognized as exempt property by the Court in Gainesville, we agree and affirm the trial court's ruling on that issue. See Sun 'N Lake of Sebring Improvement Dist. v. McIntyre, 800 So.2d 175, 723 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001) (recognizing that '[i]t is possible that a golf course or tennis courts, owned by a municipality and held open to the public, and not operated in conjunction with a forprofit business, may serve an exclusively public purpose;' citing Page v. City of Fernandina Beach, 714 So.2d 1070 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998) (holding that operation of marina by city serves public purpose entitling city to tax exemption), and Am. Golf of Detroit v. City of Huntington Woods, 225 Mich. App. 226, 570 N.W.2d 469 (1997) (likening certain golf courses to public parks)).

Zingale, 960 So.2d at 26. The property appraiser submits that, at bar, the golf course and swim and tennis centers are not only operated in conjunction with a forprofit entity, but are operated by such entity. The property appraiser also submits that the district court's decision that the property appraiser has standing to challenge the constitutionality of section 189.403(1), Florida Statutes (1999), is correct because of this Court's decisions in Dep't of Revenue v. City of Gainesville, 918 So.2d 250 (Fla. 2005) (Gainesville II), Fuchs v. Robbins, 818 So.2d 460 (Fla. 2002), Sebring Airport Auth. v. McIntyre, 783 So.2d 238 (Fla. 2001) (Sebring Airport Auth. II), State v. Frontier Acres Community Dev. Dist. Pasco Co., 472 So.2d 455 (Fla. 1985), Dep't of Education v. Lewis, 416 So.2d 455 (Fla. 1982), Archer v. Marshall, 355 So.2d 781 (Fla. 1978), Dep't of Admin. v. Horne, 269 So.2d 659 (Fla. 1972), Dickinson v. Stone, 251 So.2d 268 (Fla. 1971), Kaulakis v. Boyd, 138 So.2d 505 (Fla. 1962), State ex rel. Green v. City of <u>Pensacola</u>, 108 So.2d 897 (Fla. 1st DCA 1959), <u>aff'd</u>, 126 So.2d 566 (Fla. 1961), and State ex rel. Harrell v. Cone, 177 So. 854 (Fla. 1937). In Harrell, the rule was stated as follows:

Many cases hold that if an act requires a ministerial officer to perform duties particularly affecting him personally, as where he will violate his oath of office if he performs them, or where he is charged with the control and disbursement of public funds, his official capacity gives him such an interest in the matter that he may challenge the validity of the act in mandamus.

The case under review falls easily within the rule last supported, and some of the cases cited go so far as to hold that when, in the performance of an act imposed by statute, an officer is required to violate his oath of office to support the Constitution, in any way jeopardizes the interest of the public, or otherwise render himself liable for breach of duty, he should, in justice to himself and the public, be entitled to raise the constitutional validity of the act in mandamus to compel performance.

177 So. at 856 (citations omitted).

In the instant case, public funds are directly involved and the only person in a position to ensure that that no improper and illegal exemption or avoidance from paying taxes constitutionally due is the property appraiser. The property appraiser has the duty of appraising all property and administering exemptions in the county to ensue that all constitutional requirements are met and that all property is properly assessed and is the only officer or person with that statutory duty. See §§ 193.023, 193.085, 193.114, 196.011, Fla. Stat. (2007). Simply put, if the property appraiser cannot do it, "it ain't gonna get done." See Horne; Kaulakis; Barr v. Watts, 70 So.2d 347 (Fla. 1953).

Suggesting a distinction between assessing and collecting is a distinction without a difference of the same type that the court noted in Horne where this Court noted as a distinction without a difference the argument that an "appropriation" was different from an "expenditure." The tax collector collects what the property appraiser extends and calculates on the tax roll. If the property

appraiser doesn't include it on the tax roll, the tax collector doesn't collect it. The fiscal interest that bottoms the exception to the general rule relating to officers challenging the validity of statutes is the same.

The factual background that is undisputed is that the golf course is being operated by a private entity pursuant to contract, essentially the same entity that had always operated it before it was transferred to the district. The golf course initially was a privately owned golf course and became titled in the district's name as part of the developer's exist strategy. (R-III-384-422, Platt depo. at 14-15, Arrowsmith at 14-16) Developers need a golf course to help sell its lots in the district and when its inventory of lots is sold out or almost sold, it can sell the golf course or persuade the development district to take title, and agree to keep operating it for an agreed to fee. That's what happened here. The management company essentially is the same operator as before--same employees, controlled by the management company, same restaurant management, same golf course maintenance people, etc, all of which are employees of the management company, not the district. The liquor license is in the name of the management company, and the district has no involvement in the day-to-day operation of the golf course, the swim center, restaurant, bar, or pro shop. (R-III-369-370) The management company sets the fees with a range approved by the district based on the budget prepared and annually approved by the district supervisors. The management

company receives a \$50,000 per year fee paid in monthly installments plus \$130,000 each year and although the latter amount may be deferred if funds are insufficient, the debt remains and must be paid. (R-III-366-367) The swim and tennis facilities, restaurant, bar and pro shop are all operated by the management company.

The property appraiser submits that the district court's holding that the properties are exempt is inconsistent with this Court's rationale in <u>Gainesville II</u>. The property appraiser submits that the entire operation is a private, for-profit operation, no different than it was before the legal title transfer, similar to the hotel operation in <u>Greater Orlando Aviation Auth. v. Crotty</u>, 775 So.2d 978 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000). There, the hotel was managed by the Hyatt Corporation pursuant to a management contract. Here, the management company has control and possession of the property for 9 years, 9 months, the duration of the contract and is paid \$180,000. The district has only legal title, and the fiscal responsibility to pay off and retire the bonds used to obtain the funds to pay the developer, which come from golf course fees and earnings.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

- I. THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION THAT THE PROPERTY APPRAISER HAS STANDING TO CHALLENGE THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF A STATUTE PROVIDING FOR TAX EXEMPTION NOT PERMITTED IN THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION IS CORRECT.
- II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE GOLF COURSE AND SOUTHERN SWIM AND TENNIS CENTERS WERE ENTITLED TO AD VALOREM TAX EXEMPTION WERE IT NOT FOR THE STATUTE SECTION 189.403(1), FLORIDA STATUTES.

Whether the district court's decision that a property appraiser has standing to challenge the constitutionality of a statute is correct, and whether the district is entitled to ad valorem tax exemption are questions of law that are reviewed de novo. See Southern Baptist Hosp. of Florida, Inc. v. Welker, 908 So.2d 317 (Fla. 2005).

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION THAT THE PROPERTY APPRAISER HAS STANDING TO CHALLENGE THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF A STATUTE PROVIDING FOR TAX EXEMPTION NOT PERMITTED IN THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION IS CORRECT.

The property appraiser submits that the district court correctly ruled that the property appraiser has standing and that the Second District Court of Appeal's decision in <u>Sun 'N Lake</u> is incorrect. <u>Fuchs v. Robbins</u>, 818 So.2d 460

(Fla. 2002), and <u>Turner v. Hillsborough Co. Aviation Auth.</u>, 739 So.2d 175 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999), are factually distinguishable because in both the property appraiser initiated the actions in court.

There are two situations in which a public official may challenge the constitutionality of a statute which are: (1) when the issue is raised in a defensive manner; and (2) to protect public funds. Each will be addressed herein.

(1) The property appraiser may defensively raise the constitutionality of a statute.

Although numerous cases that had held that a property appraiser does have standing to defensively raise the constitutionality of a statute were furnished to the trial court, he cited only Sun 'N Lake of Sebring Improvement Dist. v.

McIntyre, 800 So.2d 715 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001), which had reversed a summary judgment entered in favor of the property appraiser. (R-IV-613; 615; 622) On remand, the trial court in Sun 'N Lake consolidated three subsequent tax year lawsuits that had been held in abeyance by agreement of the parties with the prior years' cases, and entered a Final Judgment finding that all of the improvement district's property involved in said cases were taxable. On remand, the trial court re-declared section 189.403(1) unconstitutional. Neither the improvement district, nor the Florida Association of Special Districts, an intervenor in the case, chose to appeal that decision.

The trial court in <u>Sun 'N Lake</u> cited <u>Sebring Airport Auth. v.</u>

<u>McIntyre</u>, 783 So.2d 238 (Fla. 2001), which involved a situation where a property appraiser challenged the validity of a statute. Since that time, the First District Court of Appeal in <u>Dep't of Revenue v. City of Gainesville</u>, 859 So.2d 595 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003) (<u>Gainesville II</u>), and this Court in <u>Gainesville II</u>, considered and rendered decisions regarding the constitutionality of a state statute in suits filed by the public body, the city. In <u>City of Gainesville</u>, the city had filed suit challenging the constitutionality of section 166.047(3), Florida Statutes (1997), which provided that property owned and used by a city that would be in competition with a private business entity would be taxable the same as privately owned property.

The First District Court of Appeal, in a 2-1 decision, held that the city's contention was well taken and struck that part of the statute holding that the city's property so used would be taxable. Gainesville I. This Court reversed that decision on separate grounds. Gainesville II. The point is that the city, which is a public body like a property appraiser is a public officer, was permitted to place in issue the validity of a state statute. It is true that in City of Gainesville, the city was the taxpayer but it is also a creature of the legislature, and the legislature determines its existence and taxable status. The legislature has the authority to waive tax immunity for counties so it certainly could determine in what situations a city's property should be taxable.

A long line of cases support the property appraiser's position. In Lewis, this Court stated the principle as follows:

If, on the other hand, the operation of a statute is brought into issue in litigation brought by another against a state agency or officer, the agency or officer may defensively raise the question of the law's constitutionality.

416 So.2d at 458. In several recent cases, this Court and district courts have addressed the validity of statutes raised by property appraiser. See Fuchs; Sebring Airport Auth. II.

In Sebring Airport Auth. II, this Court issued what is considered a landmark opinion holding invalid parts of a statute that, by definition, permitted ad valorem tax exemption for property not permitted by the Florida Constitution.

Although the standing issue was raised in the lower court in Sebring Airport Auth., this Court did not address it. There have been statements made by Supreme Court Justices in dissents that disagree with this Court's previous pronouncements on a property appraiser's standing to raise constitutional issues, but these were not part of the majority holding.

(2) The property appraiser may raise the constitutionality of a statute to protect public funds.

The second exception is where the public official raises the constitutionality of a statute to protect public funds. The property appraiser has the duty under Florida law of appraising all property in the county and administering

exemptions. See §§ 193.023, 193.085, 193.114, 196.011, Fla. Stat. (2007). The property appraiser must ensure that all taxable property is appropriately assessed and that any property receiving exemption is lawfully entitled, both constitutionally and statutorily, to receive the exemption. The property appraiser ensures that an equitable tax treatment is available for the levy of taxes for the support of local government including the county, school district, and municipalities.

Unconstitutional statutory exemptions erode the tax base of these entities. Whenever constitutionally unauthorized exemptions are granted within the county, moreover, the result is that the tax burden for that year is shifted to other taxpayers. In tax exemption cases, a "newly-created tax exemption necessarily involves a direct shift in tax burden from the exempt property to other, non-exempt properties." Sebring Airport Auth. II, 783 So.2d at 250. One person's exemption from tax is an increase in another person's tax.

This Court set forth the basis for the exception to standing where public funds are involved in <u>Barr</u>; <u>accord</u>, <u>Kaulakis</u> (in tort action against county, county commissioners had right and duty to challenge validity of home rule charter).

Similarly, the state comptroller is a proper party to challenge the constitutionality of a statute when public funds are at issue. See Green; Dickinson. The instant case fits squarely within these pronouncements.

The fact that this case involves a situation in which the property appraiser is protecting the county tax base, as opposed to guarding against the expenditure of county funds, does not require a contrary result. This Court in Horne, made "short shift" of the state's argument that "standing" should be limited to situations involving "expenditures" of funds only, stating:

Appellees cite Florida and sister state authorities allowing taxpayer attacks upon 'unlawful *expenditures*.' Appellants accept these authorities insofar as efforts to stop actual expenditures or levying of a tax is concerned but would diminish 'expenditure' and 'appropriation' (as in the General Appropriations Act) which appellants see as only a 'cutting of the pie' and not at all as 'eating' it by the ultimate expenditures of funds. This seems to be a 'distinction without a difference.' We do not view the matter as turning upon whether or not it constitutes a direct 'expenditure.'

269 So.2d at 660 (emphasis added).

In the instant case, drawing a distinction between a "post tax reduction" by way of refund, and a "pre tax reduction" by way of exemption is a "distinction without a difference." Whether diluting the tax base so as to provide for a special tax exemption thereby saving the taxpayer money, or by way of an improper payment to the taxpayer, the result is the same; a taxpayer receives a

monetary benefit at the expense of the remainder of the property owners in the county and the public coffers are directly affected.

If a statute were drawn that would have the effect of making a <u>direct</u> <u>payment</u> to the property owner, under prior case law the expenditure of such money pursuant to said law <u>would provide</u> the necessary standing or interest for the public official to challenge the constitutionality of the statute requiring such expenditure. Thus, there certainly is no logical reason why the same legitimate fiscal interest would not apply to an illegal exemption resulting in non-collection of money. In either situation, the amount of money would be the same and the preferential treatment would be identical.

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